1967

Joe S. Valdez v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Joe S. Valdez, was convicted of the crime of assault with a deadly weapon and with being an habitual criminal in the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

A complaint was filed against Joe S. Valdez on the 19th day of November, 1966, alleging that he did commit an assault with a deadly weapon by use of a knife on Jose Don Valerio. In addition, a complaint was filed charging that the appellant was an habitual criminal. Trial was held in the District Court of Weber County on the 29th day of December, 1966. After a jury trial the jury returned the verdict of guilty on the charge of assault with a deadly weapon. The status of being an habitual criminal was subsequently tried to the court and the appellant was convicted of being an habitual criminal and sentenced to the Utah State Prison in accordance with Section 76-1-18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant submits that in view of the prejudicial error committed at the time of his trial on the charge of assault with a deadly weapon that his conviction on that charge be reversed as well as his status as being an habitual criminal and a new trial granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 7:30 a.m. on the morning of November 19, 1966, Miss Shirley Wilkerson drove the defendant, Joe Valdez, to his dental appointment in downtown Ogden, Utah. Upon arriving early, the two

decided to go into Gus's Tavern located in the middle of the block between Wall and Lincoln on the north side of 25th Street. They entered and went all the way to the rear of the bar since all the chairs in front were occupied (T. 68-86). Since there were no chairs in back the defendant stood up to the bar while Miss Wilkerson stood close by. Next to Valdez near the end of the bar stood a large Indian (T. 86).

On the same morning the victim, Jose Valerio, was also in Gus's Tavern drinking beer. Valerio later testified that he went to Gus's that morning because he had been doing a lot of drinking the night before and felt bad (T. 30). According to Valerio, Valdez walked up to where he, Valerio, was standing at the bar, grabbed him saying, "I am going to kill you," and stabbed him in the stomach with a knife (T. 31). When the stabbing occurred Valerio stated that there was no one close to him except Valdez (T. 33). However, at trial Rose Hewitt testified that she was sitting not more than four or five feet away (T. 42). Miss Hewitt testified that from this small distance she didn't hear the defendant say "I am going to kill you." She saw the defendant hit him or punch him in the stomach and then she left (T. 42). She did not see a knife.

A much different account of the fight was given by both the defendant and Shirley Wilkerson. According to them Valerio came up to Valdez and asked for a beer. Valdez obliged. A few minutes later Valdez complained to Valerio about keeping his hands and

arms off of him. Valerio kept on bothering him (T. 63). Then Valdez pushed Valerio back against a pay telephone. Valerio came right back and Valdez then hit him on the jaw knocking him down (T. 64, 86). As Valerio fell he bumped against the Indian, who either grabbed him or pushed him (T. 65). Miss Wilkerson later testified at trial as follows (T. 86, 87):

“ . . . Joe told him to leave him alone, but he still kept bothering him. So he hit him and knocked him down.

“Q. Did you see him at the time that Joe hit him?

“A. Yes, he fell and then this Indian jumped in, I don't know what he did to him. I seen him get up and go out the back door.

“Q. Now, you say you saw Joe hit Mr. Valerio?

“A. Yes.

“Q. Would you tell us how Joe hit him and where he hit him and what happened?

“A. Well, he swung around and hit him with his right.

“Q. Where did he hit him?

“A. On the jaw.

“Q. This knocked Mr. Valerio down, is that correct?

“A. Yes, and then the Indian jumped him.

“Q. Did the Indian hit him?

“A. I don't know if he did or not. I know the guy got up and left.”

Although no one in the crowded bar saw the stabbing except the victim himself it was later discovered that Valerio had been knifed sometime during the scuffle. About five minutes after the incident in question Valerio got up and left the crowded bar without saying a word to anyone. He went home to his sister's, who took him to the hospital.

At about 8:45 a.m. on the same morning an Officer Thomas, who was assigned to the patrol division, received a call from an unknown source who stated that there had been a stabbing in Gus's Tavern. Officer Thomas arrived almost five minutes after another policeman, Officer Flink, had finished searching the bar. Flink said he could find no evidence of any stabbing (T. 45). Thomas then went inside to further check on possible clues as to what may have occurred. While inside he searched and questioned Valdez but discovered nothing. Thomas stated that he saw a large Indian standing close to Valdez. Thomas also testified that the bar was full and practically every stool was filled. He stated that everyone interviewed about the alleged stabbing denied seeing any fight, including the bar maid (T. 47, 50). The Officer also checked the floor for blood but found no traces (T. 46).

On November 21, 1966, a signed statement from Valerio identifying Valdez as the assailant was obtained. The following day, on November 22, a complaint was signed and a warrant issued for the arrest of Joe Valdez charging him for assault with a deadly weapon.

The next day, November 23, shortly after 8 a.m., Mr. Richards, attorney for Valdez, called Officer Brooks and asked if a warrant for Valdez had been issued. Upon finding out there was one, Mr. Richards made arrangements for Valdez to turn himself in (T. 50, 56).

The trial began on December 29, 1966, before the Honorable John F. Wahlquist, and eight jurors. The defendant was convicted for assault with a deadly weapon and for being an habitual criminal. On January 5, 1967, he was sentenced to be confined in the Utah State Prison for not less than 15 years (R. 14). It is from that verdict and sentence that the defendant prosecutes this appeal.

During the course of the trial numerous errors were committed, three of which were prejudicial and are relied on by appellant for reversal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN NOT LIMITING THE JURY'S CONSIDERATION OF OTHER CRIMINAL INVOLVEMENT ADMITTED TO SHOW MOTIVE ONLY, SINCE WITHOUT SUCH A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION THE JURY COULD INFER THAT THE EVI-

DENCE COULD BE CONSIDERED TO SHOW
THE GENERAL CRIMINAL PROPENSITY
OF THE APPELLANT.

At trial the prosecution in order to establish a motive referred several times to a meeting between the defendant and Valerio two years prior to the stabbing. Both Valdez and Valerio had been drinking together when Valdez was arrested for drunk driving. In order to link this incident to the stabbing the state questioned Valerio on direct (T. 22):

Q. Did the officer arrest him?

A. Yes, he arrested him.

Q. Did you have any argument with him at all?

A. No.

Q. Did you later have an argument?

A. We . . . , he called me on the phone about two or three times and wanted me to take the blame, you know.

Q. The blame for what?

A. For driving the car.

Q. Why did he want you to take the blame?

A. He said, "I don't want to go to the pen and if you want to take the blame," you see.

The state also questioned Valerio's wife concerning the possible motive and she testified (T. 35):

Q. Do you know of any arguments that he and your husband have had?

A. No, not that I can recall, no. He had a call from him and another word from him, because I answered the phone about a year ago. He wanted to talk to Jose and him had been together that year before. When they caught him upon that drunk driving, I was right by my husband when they were talking. My husband had already told me about this, so I didn't want to be nosey, I was listening to them when they were talking on the phone, and he said he wanted Jose to take the blame for the drunk driving, because he said, "I can't afford to go back in, because of any more trouble."

When the state cross-examined Valdez the following questions concerning the same incident were asked (T. 75, 76) :

Q. This is a man that testified against you in the Court of the drunk driving case.

Q. This is your friend?

Q. You got real mad at him, didn't you?

Q. Because you wanted him to take the blame for it?

Q. Do you remember calling him on the phone. you heard the testimony of his wife here, calling him and asking him to take the blame for you?

In summation before the jury the prosecutor re-

enforced and emphasized the importance of the motive testimony (T. 103):

" . . . The motive, if there was a motive here, appeared to be the fact that he felt that this former friend of his should have taken the blame so he wouldn't get his parole revoked, because of the drunk driving provision, he would be back to prison. He would have to serve more time. This is something he was concerned about. It made him unhappy.

* * *

This man has a record of having been in the prison. The court has told you that doesn't discredit his testimony, but certainly you can consider it in believing him or not.

Isn't it interesting that everyone else is at fault except Joe? The other man causes all of these troubles. He is sitting up in the back seat of the car but he forgets to remember that here he is in a place violating his parole, right at the time, even if he hadn't done this he would have been violating his parole.

Now he wants you to believe that he isn't the man that caused this trouble. No evidently (sic) there must have been some ill feeling about this man when he grabbed him here and said "I'm going to kill you." This isn't something that men do just every day."

In an effort to keep the trial judge from unconsciously conveying misleading information the defense objected to the following instruction:

"Proof of a motive for an alleged crime is permissible and often is valuable, but never is es-

sential. If after consideration and comparison of all the evidence, you feel an abiding conviction to a moral certainty that the defendant committed the crime of which he is accused, the motive for its commission becomes unimportant. Evidence of motive is sometimes of assistance in removing doubt and completing proof which otherwise might be unsatisfactory. Motive may be shown by positive evidence or by facts surrounding the act if they support a reasonable inference. When thus proved, motive becomes a circumstance, but nothing more than a circumstance, to be considered by you. The absence of motive is equally a circumstance to be reckoned with, but on the side of innocence, tending to support the presumption of innocence, and to be given such weight as you deem proper."

The above instruction was not uttered in a vacuum. It must be read in the context of the whole trial. The testimony as to motive was found in the same portions of the record in which references to defendant's credibility and criminal record appeared. The fundamental error in the instruction is *the absence of language limiting the permissible use of the drunk driving evidence to show motive and nothing else*. Without such curative language it is reasonable to conclude that the jury could and did also use the evidence to show the appellant's propensity to commit the crime and, therefore, as a basis for an inference that he committed the crime for which he was on trial. The jury might also have improperly but reasonably believed such evidence would be used to show that the defendant was not to be believed even though under oath. It is undeniable

that the instruction without any restrictive language when coupled with the repetitious references to the incident, at trial caused undue emphasis in the minds of the jurors.

The requirement of limiting the purpose of evidence of other crimes was articulated in *State v. Wellard*, 3 Utah 2d 129, 279 P.2d 914 (1955). In that case the defendant was prosecuted for issuing a fictitious check. The state in an effort to show defendant's intent to defraud in cashing the check introduced evidence of another check which defendant cashed but which the bank had refused to pay. In receiving the evidence the trial court properly instructed the jury that it could only be used by them for the purpose of showing intent. On appeal the Supreme Court in affirming the conviction used the following language which is apropos here:

“ . . . It is settled in this court that the state may not prove that the defendant committed other offenses merely to show his propensity for the commission of crime, because such evidence is apt to be given undue weight. However, evidence of other crimes is admissible if it tends to prove that he had the necessary intention for the crime charged. For evidence admissible for one purpose is not inadmissible because it fails to meet the requirements for another purpose, *but the jury should be instructed not to use it for the inadmissible purpose.* This the court did in this case and contrary to defendant's argument such instruction was clear and understandable by the jury.”

It is important to point out the distinction between evidence which is admitted because relevant to the main issues in dispute and evidence admitted for a limited purpose. In the present case it was admitted for the latter, to show motive. It had very little relevancy to show intent and no relevancy towards supplying a link in the chain of events which constituted or indicated the commission of the crime charged. Nor is it relevant to show that this particular defendant is not telling the truth.⁽¹⁾ It is inescapable that the only real relevancy although tenuous, goes to show a possible factor inducing the commission of the crime, nothing else. The policy against allowing such weak probative evidence was clearly stated in *State v. Dickson*, *infra*, where the court stated:

“ . . . the very purpose of excluding such evidence is to prevent the prosecution from smearing an accused by showing a bad reputation and relying on that for conviction rather than being required to produce adequate proof of the crime in question. It is the sound and salutary policy of the law to indulge everyone, including convicted felons, with the presumption of innocence, and to require the state to obtain and present sufficient credible evidence to convince the jury of the defendant's guilt of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. If this were not so, serious and perhaps insuperable obstacles to reformation and rehabilitation would exist for a man who had once acquired a bad reputation.”

(1) Drunk driving is not an offense that may be used to impeach the credibility of a witness. *State v. Fournier*, 193 A. 2d 924 (Vt. 1963).

In *State v. Dickson*, 12 Utah 2d 8, 361 P. 2d 412 (1961). The defendant was charged for robbery of a grocery store. He appealed from a conviction alleging two errors. The first error related to questioning about previous felony convictions. The Supreme Court said that the defendant could properly be questioned about previous felony convictions for the purpose of impeaching his credibility as a witness. However, in that case the prosecutor pressed beyond such purpose, when after the defendant had admitted to two robbery convictions, he further asked whether both of them happened to be food markets. The prosecutor based his right to go into the details of those felonies upon the theory that he was trying to show a "modus operandi," to show that the accused was following some plan or scheme of which other crimes were a part, or where the crime was committed in some particular way, so as to lead one to think the same crimes were committed by the same person. Although the case was not resolved on this issue the court stated that it did not approve the admission of evidence of the modus operandi since no logical inference could be drawn that the person who committed the one committed the other. The second error upon which the defendant appealed concerned improper questioning of the defendant as to being involved in an offense where his brother was involved in a felony. That questioning concerned an incident in Texas, subsequent to the alleged robbery in Salt Lake City. The defendant stated that he had been charged but not tried for robbery in Texas. This Court in reversing

held that such cross examination of defendant was not justified for impeachment purposes or on the *modus operandi* theory. Although that case is factually distinguishable from our case the same policy exists here. In our case as in *Dickson*, no requirement of similarity peculiar to the two crimes has been satisfied. The phone calls to Valerio do not compel any logical inference that Valdez stabbed Valerio. Without any limiting instruction prohibiting the jury from using the driving incident as evidence of general criminality it is possible that an intelligent lay person listening to it at the close of trial could be misled into using such for resolving a doubt on the criminal involvement rather than requiring the state to produce adequate proof of the crime. Certainly the error here can't be considered harmless in light of the language used in *State v. Dickson, supra*:

“Inasmuch as we cannot say with any degree of assurance that there would not have been a different result in the absence of the error in cross examining the defendant about the incident in Texas, it must be regarded as prejudicial and the case remanded for a new trial.”

Erroneous instructions were held to be reversible error in *Montgomery v. United States*, 203 F. 2d 887 (5th Cir. 1953). In that case the defendant was convicted for willfully and knowingly attempting to defeat and evade income taxes. The Circuit Court reversed and held that although the district judge could exercise broad discretion in admitting evidence to show defend-

ant's motive in not reporting his illegal gains or to establish the possible source of the funds used for the expenditures, he should have cautioned the jury that such evidence was admitted only for the light it might throw on those specific purposes and no inference of guilt could be drawn merely from the commission of other offenses different in character.

The same policy was the basis for a reversal in *People v. Bentley*, 131 Cal. App. 2d 687, 281 P. 2d 1 (1955). In that case the defendant was convicted of lewd conduct in violation of the state statute. On appeal the District Court of Appeals for California reversed primarily for failure of the trial court to give cautionary instructions as to the limited purposes on the inquiry of cross examination.

Recently the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia on another but closely related question, used language which is apropos here. In *Awkard v. United States*, 352 F. 2d 641 (D.C. Cir. 1965), the court held even cautionary instructions might not protect the interests of the defendant. In that case the defendant was convicted of simple assault and assault with intent to kill. The prosecuting attorney cross-examined defendant's character witness concerning defendant's prior arrests. Both witnesses were asked whether they had heard of defendant's two prior arrests for assault with a dangerous weapon or her conviction for disorderly conduct. Since both arrests grew out of domestic quarrels, upon complaint of defendant's hus-

band and since the conviction also arose from a domestic quarrel, the court was not at all impressed with its relevancy. Judge Washington in reversing the conviction stated:

“The use of such evidence must be closely supervised by the trial judge, not only to assay the prosecuting attorney’s good faith but to consider whether the probative value of the information which might be elicited outweighs the prejudice to the defendant.

“ . . . Cautionary instructions, copiously provided by the trial judge in this case, do not give the accused adequate protection. They cannot prevent the jury from considering prior actions in deciding whether appellant has committed the crime charged. The courts need not rest on the assumption that juries can compartmentalize their minds and hear things for one purpose and not for another. The Supreme Court took the lead in *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774, 12 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1964), by going behind the historic assumptions of the law of evidence and considering the psychological reality of the jury’s functioning, in that case as it related to its consideration of the voluntariness of confessions.”

In light of the above principles, the trial judge in the instant case was clearly in error for not giving the jury an instruction allowing them to compartmentalize the evidence. Although it may be extremely difficult to frame a limiting instruction so as to give full protection to the rights of the accused this particular instruction falls far short of giving the accused the benefits

to which he is entitled. In the absence of any similarity in the driving incident and the crime charged here, such evidence has no probative value and its only effect would be to cast aspersions upon the defendant and imply that because he was involved in driving trouble he is a person likely to commit a crime or testify falsely. A limiting instruction certainly was required and the failure to give such an instruction was prejudicial error.

POINT II

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