1971

Joe S. V. Aldez v. State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT APPELLANT A NEW TRIAL ON A WRIT OF CORAM NOBIS.

In order to substantiate the argument, the respondent will first show what the courts require in the way of prerequisites necessary to the issuance of a writ of coram nobis. Next, the respondent will show how the appellant has failed to qualify in nearly every aspects of these requirements. Lastly, the attitude that appellate courts are required to assume in reviewing such appeals will be shown.

A. Prerequisites necessary to issuance of writ.

Courts of law have been atypically unanimous in establishing the following prerequisites for the issuance of a writ of coram nobis:

(1) Existence of material facts not presented at trial.

The leading case upon which this jurisdiction has relied when determining questions as to the propriety of granting writs of coram nobis is that of *People v. Shipman*, 42 Cal.Rptr. 1, 397 P.2d 993 (1965). The court in that case, while discussing the requirement for newly discovered facts, pretty much listed the entire gamut of requirements for issuance. They said:

The writ of coram nobis is granted only when three requirements are met. (1) Petitioner must "show that some fact existed which without any fault or negligence on his part was not presented to the court at the trial on the merits and which if presented would have prevented the rendition of the judgment." (Cases cited.) . . . (2) Petitioner must also show that the "newly discovered evidence [does not go] to the merits of issues tried. Issues of fact once adjudicated even though incorrectly cannot be reopened except on motion for new trial." (Cases cited.) . . . (3) Petitioner "must show that the facts on which he relies were not known to him and could not in the exercise of due diligence have been discovered by him at any time substantially earlier than the time of his motion for the writ." (Cases cited.) . . .

It is easy to see why this case will be further cited in subsequent portions of this argument.

In determining the degree of materiality needed in presenting facts not presented at the trial, it is interesting to note the case of *People v. Vernon*, 49 P. 326 (Cal. 1935) in which the court stated:

It appears to be the law that in and of itself, confession of guilt by one other than the applicant for writ of error coram nobis, will not furnish a sufficient reason for the issuance of the writ.

While this case may appear extreme in its requirement, courts in general are conspicuously restrictive in their determination of what constitutes "materiality". The arguments that follow will throw additional light on the requirement that newly discovered facts be material.

(a) Defendant not to be at fault in non-presentation of facts.

Not only must the newly discovered facts be material, but the fact that they were not presented at the time of trial must not result from any fault on the part of the defendant or his attorney. The *Shipman* case, *supra*, has already alluded to that requirement. This concept was earlier declared in the Utah case of *State v. Woodard*, 108 U. 390, 160 P.2d 432 (1945) where this court said:

For a party to be entitled to this writ, it must appear that the failure to present the facts to the court was not due to any negligence or fault of the party seeking the writ.

Even earlier than the *Shipman* case, California courts were insistent upon the defendant having "clean hands" in connection with newly discovered evidence. In *People v. Tuthill*, 198 P.2d 505, (Cal. 1948) the court held:

The office of the writ of coram nobis is to bring the attention of the court to, and obtain relief from, errors of fact, such as a valid defense existing in the facts of the case, but which without negligence on

the part of the defendant was not made, either through duress or fraud or excusable mistake. These facts, not appearing on the face of the record, and being such as known in season would have prevented the rendition and entry of the judgment in question.

Colorado courts require that the defendant be blameless in order to seek relief.

The facts relied upon must be such as do not appear on the face of the record, failure to disclose which was attributable to no fault of petitioner and which would, if known, have forestalled the judgment. *Hailey v. People*, 115 P.2d 993 (Colo. 1945).

Perhaps most applicable to the situation at bar is the holding of the Indiana court which suggests that relief will not lie where any misconduct in the presentation of the defendant's case has been evident.

The writ of error coram nobis should not be granted to relieve one from a predicament in which he finds himself as the result of his own dishonest and fraudulent conduct. *Vickery v. State*, 106 N.E.2d 223 (Ind. 1952).

From the foregoing it is clear that every effort must have been made to obtain all available facts and evidence in presenting the defendant's case, and any hint of dereliction of duty either on the part of the defendant or his attorney will be fatal in subsequent coram nobis proceedings.

(b) Presentation of newly discovered facts would have prevented judgment.

The greatest hurdle which the defendant must overcome in qualifying for the writ of coram nobis is that of presenting new facts, which in the minds of the reviewing court, would have conclusively precluded the contested judgment from having been rendered had such evidence been presented to the trier of facts. In the *Woodard* case, *supra*, the court applied what might be called the coram nobis "but for" test in saying:

The writ of coram nobis where available seeks to obtain a review of a judgment on the ground that certain mistakes of fact have occurred which were unknown to the court and to the parties affected and that but for such mistakes the judgment would not have been rendered.

Again, the *Shipman* case, *supra*, holds that such newly discovered evidence must of necessity "have prevented rendition of judgment."

The court in the *Tuthill* case, *supra*, similarly concluded:

. . . and where such [new facts] would have prevented rendition of the judgment questioned.

In the *Hailey* case, *supra* the Colorado court used the phrase ". . . which would if known, have forestalled the judgment . . ." It is also interesting to note the federal court's standard as to the necessary "weightiness" of the new evidence. In the case of *U.S. v. West*, 170 F. Supp. 200 (N.D. Ohio 1959), a federal district court said:

The function of coram nobis is to bring to the attention of the court some fact unknown to the court

which if known would have resulted in a different judgment.

The Sixth Circuit expressed the following in *Dunn v. U.S.*, 238 F.2d 908 (6th Cir. 1956):

On application for writ of coram nobis the entire record will be looked into by the court and the judgment rendered which the whole requires.

The court further stated in effect that failure of a defendant to make a showing that a retrial would have had a different result is grounds for denial of a motion in the nature of coram nobis to set aside his sentence.

The Eighth Circuit in *Bateman v. U.S.*, 277 F.2d 65 (8th Cir. 1960) said:

A writ of error coram nobis will not lie even if the alleged error be fundamental, unless it is probable that a different result would have occurred had the supposed error of fact been known to the trial court.

Thus, little question should remain in the minds of reasonable men as to the quality and necessary effect of newly discovered evidence required to permit the issuance of the writ. This conclusive aspect is perhaps best summed up in this holding of a West Virginia Federal Court:

The writ of error coram nobis does not lie for newly discovered evidence unless the newly discovered evidence is of such conclusive nature, that if known would have resulted in a different judgment. *U.S. v. Taylor*, 49 F.Supp 353, (N.D. West Vir 1943)

(2) Newly discovered facts not to go to issues already tried.

The second requirement called for in the *Shipman* decision, *supra*, was as follows:

(2) Showing the fact does not go to merits of issues tried.

The court clarified this concept in saying in effect that issues of fact once adjudicated, even though incorrectly, cannot be reopened except on motion for new trial, even though alleged newly discovered evidence is not discovered until after time for moving for new trial has elapsed or motion has been denied.

In the *Tuthill* case, *supra*, the unanimity of California courts was displayed in this respect:

It is a general rule that the writ will not be granted for newly discovered evidence going to the merits of the issues tried. Issues of fact once adjudicated, even though incorrectly, cannot be reopened except on motion for new trial.

It takes but little imagination to foresee the "parade of horrors" if every issue of the case, even though material, were open to relitigation. That ingredient of the law "finality", which all courts seek, would be reduced to nothing more than a legal platitude.

Again, California has been a leading state in guarding the finality of the judicial process. The California Supreme Court declared in *Ex parte Lindley*, 29 Cal. 2d 709, 177 P.2d 918 (1947):

It is stated as a general rule that the writ of error coram nobis does not lie to correct an issue of fact which has been adjudicated even though wrongly determined, nor for alleged false testimony at the trial, nor on the ground that a juror swore falsely as to his qualifications, nor for newly discovered evidence."

In a case in which the Supreme Court of the United States denied a writ of certiorari it was held:

Generally, a writ of coram nobis will not be granted for newly discovered evidence going to merits of issues tried or to correct errors of law nor is it intended to authorize any court to review and revise its opinion. *People v. Coyle*, 88 Ct.App.2d 967, 200 P.2d 546 (1948).

(3) Newly discovered facts were not known to defendant at the time of trial and were not discoverable in exercise of due diligence.

As can be seen, this requirement is closely allied with the requirement that the defendant is not at fault. In *Butt v. Graham*, 6 U.2d 133, 307 P.2d 892 (1957) Justice Wade said in effect that "where the record disclosed that no newly discovered evidence was produced at the hearing that could not have been produced at the trial in a carnal knowledge prosecution, the trial court properly refused to grant coram nobis."

Along with the court's decision in the *Shipman* case. *supra*, the court's decision in *People v. Adamson*, 210 P.2d 13 (Cal. 1949) was also indicative of the consensus of opinion:

The applicant for the writ must show that the facts upon which he relies were not known to him and could not in the exercise of due diligence have been discovered by him at any time substantially earlier than the time of his motion for the writ. Otherwise, he has stated no ground for relief.

In the case of *People v. Campbell*, 245 P.2d 311 (Cal. 1952) the court succinctly stated the doctrine as follows:

Petitioner for error coram nobis on ground of newly discovered evidence did not entitle petitioner to relief from conviction when the alleged newly discovered evidence was either known or should have been discovered by defendant at time of trial by use of reasonable diligence and when there was no allegation that petitioner had been prevented by extrinsic causes from offering same.

Little more can be said than the requirements necessary for the issuance of a writ of error coram nobis are narrowly and precisely defined. Noncompliance with or nonfulfillment of the least of these requirements is deemed fatal to an attempt at rehearing through the medium of coram nobis.

B. Appellant failed to qualify for issuance of the writ.

The respondent will now endeavor to show that the appellant has fallen substantially short of qualifying for the writ.

(1) If newly discovered facts existed, they were either immaterial or of limited import.

While it is true that the appellant's claimed new facts or evidence were not presented at the trial, it is apparent that he places undue significance on them. In the first place,

the only new "facts" presented by the appellant is the fact that there exists a "distant" cousin who is willing to testify he heard the victim casually mention that he was uncertain as to who had stabbed him. The newly discovered "facts" are neither that the victim *said* he wasn't sure nor that he in *fact* wasn't sure. In other words, the testimony of Kelly Valdez, the distant cousin, which was given at the hearing, must, of necessity, be classified as pure hearsay. As such, it can only be admitted to impeach the testimony of the victim, and in no way can be used in determining the truthfulness of the matter asserted; i.e., that the victim, Mr. Valerio, didn't know who stabbed him. It is necessary before newly discovered facts can play a role in the granting of a writ of coram nobis that those facts be "true." As the Colorado court put it in *Medberry v. People*, 108 P.2d 243 (Colo. 1940), "to justify the granting of a writ of error coram nobis, the substantive facts upon which reliance is placed must be true."

It is interesting to compare the claimed materiality of the claimed impeachment testimony in the instant case with the court ruled immateriality of a confession of guilt by other than the petitioner in the *Vernon* case, *supra*. It is difficult for the respondent to accord sufficient materiality to belated hearsay testimony of a friendly distant cousin to entitle appellant to a writ.

In ascertaining the truthfulness of statements alleged to be newly discovered material evidence, the court is free to believe or disbelieve. In the case of *People v. Bobeda*, 300 P.2d 97 (Cal. 1956) the court said:

The trial courts determination of the truth or the veracity of a witness is final, and it is not required

to accept as true the testimony of a witness even though it is not contradicted.

In the same opinion the court made a statement even more strikingly appropriate in the instant case, "It is not a remedy available to one who has been convicted on false testimony." *Supra* at P. 99

The respondent contends that the evidence claimed to warrant the granting of a writ of coram nobis was immaterial and the court had every right, as it did, to find it so.

(a) Defendant was at fault in not presenting facts at the trial which would have had equal or greater significance in providing for his defense than those alleged to have been newly discovered.

After reading the record and the appellant's brief in this case, a number of questions remain not fully answered. For instance, why did Kelly Valdez wait so long to disclose such allegedly pertinent information to the appellant? Why wasn't this information at least conveyed to Miss Wilkerson who was present during the alleged utterance? What were the real reasons for evidence of the observed "poking motion" and knife not being disclosed at the time of trial? Who was the indian and where did he go?

The above questions have one thing in common. They all tend to indicate either an overly imaginative mind or a person so unconcerned with his own defense and the outcome of his own trial that he felt little compunction to provide his attorney with pertinent available information upon which to build a case. The information, if true, concerning the indian and his knife, might have constituted some defense and might have changed the outcome of the trial. It

is claimed that the reasons this information was not disclosed was that the appellant did not want to involve his indian friend and believed such evidence was not necessary to his successful defense. The picture the appellant paints of himself is strikingly similar with the image of the appellant in the case of *Gross v. State*, 40 N.E.2d 333 (Ind. 1942) where the court was compelled to hold:

The writ will not issue to one who has negligently failed to present the facts which if known to the judge would have prevented the judgment. (Cases cited.) Much less should it be granted to a defendant who elects to perjure himself rather than use an honest defense.

In the later companion case of *Vickery v. State*, 106 N.E.2d 223 (Ind. 1952) the court finished the portrait of the appellant with these words:

The writ of coram nobis should not be granted to relieve one from a predicament in which he finds himself as a result of his own dishonest and fraudulent conduct.

It is apparent from the foregoing that the negligence which an appellant displays in defeating his petition for a writ of coram nobis need not be inexorably connected with the nondisclosure at the trial of the later discovered facts. If he seeks to perpetrate a fraud upon the court, whereby material evidence remains undisclosed, he has failed to fulfill the nonnegligence requirement.

The California Supreme Court summed up this concept in *In re De La Roi*, 28 Cal.2d 264, 169 P.2d 363 (1946) the court held in essence that:

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